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Plaintiffs MT. DERM GmbH (“MT. Derm”) and Nouveau Cosmetique USA, Inc.
(“Nouveau Cosmetique”), by and through their attorneys, for their Complaint against Defendants
Bomtech Electronics Co., Ltd. (“Bomtech”), Bellaire Industry (“Bellaire”) and Sing Hong Yeung

(*Yeung”), allege the following:
NATURE OF THE ACTION

1. This is an action for patent infringement ariéing under the patent laws of the United
States (Title 35 U.S.C. §§ 1 et seq.) based upon Defendants’ infringement of United States Patent
Nos. 6,345,553 and 6,505,530.

THE PARTIES

2. Plaintiff MT. Derm is a corporation organized under the laws of Germany having its
principal place of business at Gustav-Krone-Str. 3, 14167 Berlin, Germany.

3. Plaintiff Nouveau Cosmetique is a corporation having a corporate office and principal
place of business at 111 North Orange Avenue, Suite 775 South Tower, Orlando, Florida, 32801.

4, Plaintiff MT. Derm sells tattoo and permanent make-up application devices as well as
needle cartridges used with these devices through a chain of distributors in the United States.
MT. Derm is the owner by assignment of all rights, title, and interest in United States Patent Nos.
6,345,553 and 6,505,530.

5. Plaintiff Nouveau Cosmetique is the exclusive licensee under United States Patent
Nos. 6,345,553 and 6,505,530 for products sold and used in the permanent make-up field.

6. Upon information and belief, Defendant Bomtech Electronics Co., Ltd. is a
corporation organized and existing under the laws of the Republic of Korea with its principal

place of business at 2-3F Yeon-san Bldg. 1547-15, Seocho3-dong, Seocho-ku, Seoul 137-073,



Republic of Korea. Upon information and belief, Defendant Bomtech manufactures permanent
make-up (PMU) application devices utilizing needle cartridges, including the needle cartridges
for use with these devices, which are imported into the United States, used in the United States,
and sold and offered for sale within the United States.

7. Upon information and belief, Defendant Bellaire Industry (“Bellaire™) is a New York
corporation having its principal place of business at 11 Heather Court, Middle Island, NY 11953.

8. Upon information and belief, Defendant Sing-Hong Yeung (“Yeung”) is the owner
and operator of Bellaire. Defendants Bellaire and Yeung also maintain a website,
www.bellaireindustry.com, that advertises and sells infringing products. Upon information and
belief, Defendants Bellaire and Yeung are acting as a distributor of Defendant Bomtech’s
products that are imported into the United States for sale to customers located in the United
States, including the infringing PMU devices and needle cartridges for use with those products
identified herein.

9. Defendant Bomtech, Defendant Bellaire, and Defendant Yeung (collectively,
“Defendants”) market and sell devices for applying permanent make-up (PMU) and/or tattoos
and needle cartridges for use with such devices that compete with products manufactured,
marketed, and sold by Plaintiffs and that are the subject of this action.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

10. This is an action for patent infringement. The claims arise under the patent laws of
the United States, Title 35 U.S.C. §§ 1 et seq.

11. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§

1331 (federal question jurisdiction) and 1338(a) (original jurisdiction under patent laws).



12. Upon information and belief, Defendant Bomtech is subject to this Court’s personal
Jurisdiction pursuant to due process and/or New York’s Long Arm Statute, due to at least
Bomtech’s widespread and continuous commercial contacts with this forum, its substantial
business transacted in this district, and the commission of acts of patent infringement within this
district, including systematic and deliberate marketing, sales, and importation of the infringing
products into this district, which further includes (without limitation) sales and importation of
infringing products to Defendants Bellaire and Yeung, who reside in this judicial district and are
distributors of the infringing products as well as other products manufactured by Bomtech.

13. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendant Bellaire and Defendant Yeung
because, on information and belief, Defendant Bellaire and Defendant Yeung reside in and
transact business within this district and have committed acts of patent infringement in this
district, including, without limitation, the importation, offer for sale and/or sale of the infringing
products described herein.

14. Venue is proper in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b), 1391(c), and
1400(b), because Defendant Bellaire and Defendant Yeung reside in and have a regular and
established place of business within this district and because Defendants have conducted regular
acts of infringement within this district by selling, offering to sell, and, importing the infringing
products.

THE PATENTS-IN-SUIT

15. On September 28, 2000, Application No. 09/671,650 was filed before the United

States Patent Office (“USPTO”), and on February 12, 2002 the USPTO duly and legally issued

U.S. Patent No. 6,345,553 (hereinafter “the ‘553 Patent”) entitled “Ink Application Device for



Tattooing or for Making Permanent Make-Up.” A true and correct copy of the ‘553 Patent is
attached hereto as Exhibit A.

16. The named inventors of the ‘553 patent are Frank Adler, Walter Lisec and Gerhard
Tiirk.

17. The inventors assigned all right, title, and interest in the ‘553 Patent to Plaintiff MT.
Derm.

18. Plaintiff Nouveau Cosmetique is the exclusive licensee of rights to the 553 Patent in
the United States.

19. The °553 Patent is now and has been at all times since its date of issuance, valid and
enforceable.

20. On February 12, 2002, Application No. 10/072,991 was filed before the United States
Patent Office (“USPTO”) as a continuation of Application No. 09/671,650. On January 14, 2003
the USPTO duly and legally issued U.S. Patent No. 6,505,530 (hereinafter “the ‘530 Patent”)
entitled “Ink Application Device for Tattooing or for Making Permanent Make-Up.” A true and
correct copy of the ‘530 Patent is attached hereto as Exhibit B.

21. The named inventors of the ‘530 patent are Frank Adler, Walter Lisec and Gerhard
Tirk.

22. The inventors assigned all right, title, and interest in the ‘530 Patent to Plaintiff MT.
Derm.

23. Plaintiff Nouveau Cosmetique is the exclusive licensee of rights to the ‘530 Patent in

the United States.



24, The ‘530 Patent is now and has been at all times since its date of issuance, valid and
enforceable.

COUNT1I
(Infringement of the ‘553 Patent)

25. The allegations of paragraphs 1-24 are repeated and re-alleged as if set forth fully
herein.

26. Defendant Bomtech has infringed one or more claims of the 553 Patent in violation
of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a), (b), and/or (c) by importing, selling, and offering for sale, PMU devices
and/or needle cartridges for use with PMU devices embodying the invention claimed in the *553
Patent, including (but not limited to) the Bomtech “Digital Pen,” “Digital Hand,” “Digital POP,”
“Digital Pro” products and needle cartridges for use with the same.

27. Defendant Bellaire and Defendant Yeung have infringed one or more claims of the
¢553 Patent in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a), (b), and/or (c) by using, importing, selling, and
offering for sale, PMU devices and/or needle cartridges for use with PMU devices embodying
the invention claimed in the ‘553 Patent, including (but not limited to) the Bomtech “Digital
Pen,” “Digital Hand,” “Digital POP,” and “Digital Pro” products and needle cartridges for use
with the same.

28. The infringing actions of Defendants are and have at all times been without the
consent of, authority of, or license from Plaintiffs.

29. As a direct and proximate result of the infringement of the ‘553 Patent by Defendants,
Plaintiffs have suffered damages in an amount which cannot yet be fully ascertained, which will

be proven at trial.



30. Upon information and belief, Defendants have knowledge of the infringement of the
‘553 Patent, yet Defendants continue to infringe the ‘553 Patent. The infringement of the ‘553
Patent by Defendants is knowing and willful, entitling Plaintiffs to increased damages under 35
U.S.C. § 284 and to attorneys’ fees and costs incurred in prosecuting this action under 35 U.S.C.
§ 285.

31. The infringement of the ‘553 Patent by Defendants has caused and continues to cause
Plaintiffs to suffer irreparable harm for which there is no adequate remedy at law, and for which
Plaintiffs are entitled to injunctive relief.

COUNT 11
(Infringement of the ‘530 Patent)

32. The allegations of paragraphs 1-31 are repeated and re-alleged as if set forth fully
herein.

33. Defendant Bomtech has infringed one or more claims of the ‘530 Patent in violation
of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a), (b), and/or (c) by importing, selling, and offering for sale, PMU devices
and/or needle cartridges for use with PMU devices embodying the invention claimed in the ‘530
Patent, including (but not limited to) the Bomtech “Digital Pen,” “Digital Hand,” “Digital POP,”
and “Digital Pro” products and needle cartridges for use with the same.

34. Defendant Bellaire and Defendant Yeung have infringed one or more claims of the
530 Patent in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a), (b), and/or (c) by using, importing, selling, and
offering for sale, PMU devices and/or needle cartridges for use with PMU devices embodying
the invention claimed in the ‘530 Patent, including (but not limited to) the Bomtech “Digital
Pen,” “Digital Hand,” “Digital POP”, and “Digital Pro” products and needle cartridges for use

with the same.



35. The infringing actions of Defendants are and have at all times been without the
consent of, authority of, or license from Plaintiffs.

36. As a direct and proximate result of the infringement of the 530 Patent by Defendants,
Plaintiffs have suffered damages in an amount which cannot yet be fully ascertained, which will
be proven at trial.

37. Upon information and belief, Defendants have knowledge of the infringement of the
‘530 Patent, yet Defendants continue to infringe the ‘530 Patent. The infringement of the <530
Patent by Defendants is knowing and willful, entitling Plaintiffs to increased damages under 35
U.S.C. § 284 and to attorneys’ fees and costs incurred in prosecuting this action under 35 U.S.C.
§ 285.

38. The infringement of the ‘530 Patent by Defendants has caused and continues to cause
Plaintiffs to suffer irreparable harm for which there is no adequate remedy at law, and for which
Plaintiffs are entitled to injunctive relief.

PRAYER FOR REIIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs MT. Derm and Nouveau Cosmetique respectfully request that
the Court grant the following relief:

a) enter judgment that Defendants infringe and have directly, indirectly,
contributorily and/or by inducement, infringed the ‘553 Patent and the ‘530 Patent under 35
U.S.C. §§ 271(a), (b), and/or (c);

b) enter judgment that the infringement of the ‘553 Patent and the ‘530 Patent by

Defendants has been willful and award Plaintiffs treble damages under 35 U.S.C. § 284;



c) order Defendants to pay damages adequate to compensate Plaintiffs for
Defendants’ infringement of the ‘553 Patent and the *530 Patent pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 284,
together with prejudgment and post-judgment interest, in an amount according to proof;

d) enter a permanent injunction enjoining Defendants and their officers, agents,
servants, employees, and attorneys, and all other persons and entities acting in concert or
participation with them, from infringing, inducing others to infringe or contributing to the
infringement of the ‘553 Patent and the ‘530 Patent;

e) in the event a permanent injunction is not granted, determine the conditions for
future infringement or grant such other relief as the Court deems appropriate;

) enter judgment that this case is exceptional under 35 U.S.C. § 285 and award
Plaintiffs reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs; and

g) award Plaintiffs such further relief as this court deems just and proper.

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL
Plaintiff respectfully requests a trial by jury on all issues so triable, pursuant to Fed. R.
Civ. P. 38.
DATED: New York, New York
May 17, 2013
Respectfully submitted,

FLEMMING ZULACK WILLIAMSON
ZAUDERER LLP

By: (V/“7 / /
Richard A. Williamson, Esq. (RW-3033)
Craig S. Kesch, Esq. (CK-6101)
One Liberty Plaza
New York, New York 10006
Tel.: (212) 412-9500
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(7 ABSTRACT

An ink application device for tanooing or for making
permancnt make-up includes a handle, a needle drive, a
geedle, a needie nozzle and a protective cap. The device
further includes at least two modules releasably connected 10
one another. One of the modules is formed as a reusable base
module with an integrated needle drive, and the other
module is o sterilized disposable module in which all
components of the manual device capable of being infected
by bedily fluids of a customer arc integrated. The device can
be constructively divided into two or three separate mod-
ules: a basic module, a disposable or hygienic module and
an optional ink module, The basic module corresponds to the
handle that includes the needle drive and is designed such
that the hygicnic module can be safely attached and coa-
nected to the integrated needle drive.

30 Claims, 6 Drawing Sheets
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INK APPLICATION DEVICE FOR
TATTOOING OR FOR MAKING
PERMANENT MAKE-UP

BACKGROUND OF THE INVENTION

1. Field of the Invention
The present invention relates to an ink application device
for tattooing or for making permanent make-up that caa

apply tattoos or other permanent make-up. In particular, this |

invention relates to a psrmancnt make-up ink application
device for cnsuring sterility when treating customers.

2. Discussion of the Related Art

The spreading of highly infectious bacierial or viral
infectious diseases such as AIDS and hepatitis, which are
iransmitted by bodily fluids, places substantial pressure on
cosmeticians with respect to the hygienic handling of the
toals and ink containers when applying permanent make-up
(PMU) and tattoos. In everyday practice, these concerns arc
not easy to address.

It is particularly problematic in the practice of applying
permanent make-up aad tattoos because these measures are
so invasive. In particular, the customer's skin is pierced by
the method, and blood or blood serum may issue from the
treated portion of the skin. Moreover, the parts of the device
that come into direct contact with the customer, in particular,
the needles and needle nozzles, are conmtaminated by the
customer’s bodily fluids. ln order to avoid known diseases
transmitted by bodily fluids, such as AIDS and hepatitis,
these parts of the device must be sterile before weatment and
are 1o be regarded as potentially infectious after treatment,
Therefore, they must be disposed of accordingly.

Thus, it is common practice that certain parts of the PMU
or tattoo device, such as peedles, are disposable articles.
Other parts can be used several times and thus must be
carefully cleaned and sterilized after use. Before use, these
parts must be taken out of the sterile packaging in which
they are stored and then they are mouated in or at the PMU
or manual tattoo device. This requires a substantial amount
of time and money and further requires great care from the
users to ensure that all parts are sterile when the device is
used on customers.

‘When applyiug tattoos or permanent make-up, iok to be
introduced into the skin is typically taken from large ink
reservoir containers, usually large ink bottles. Then the ink
is either directly applied onto the customer’s skin or it is
injected by mecans of syringes, dropper pipeties or similar
tools into a PMU or tattoo pen by means of which the 1attoo

is applied. The amount of iok in the ink bottles is signifi- .

cantly larger than the quantity required for one customer.
One bottle is therefore used for a multitude of tattoos and
make-up applicativas or for multiple customers.

This practice poses health risks for customers because of
the danger that bodily fluids, such as blood or serum issuing
from the injured skin of a customer when piercing, “carving-
in” or contacting the skin while applying the ink, contact the
filling aids used for transferring the ink out of the reservoir
ink boltlss. As a result, the bodily fluids may spread into the
reservoir bottle thereby losing the sterility of the botile.
Under these circumstances, several custowers can be con-
taminated by infectious diseases if thc same ink and the
same filing aid arc used.

Tue prolonged storage of the ink in ihe relatively large
teservoir container and the permanent extraction of small
amounts for treating customers can, despite all precaution-
ary measures, cause the contamination of the ink with dust
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particles, germs and bacteria and may lead to an infection in
the customer. The sterility of the ink can therefore not
always be reliably ensured despite careful hygienic mea-
sures. Moreover, an economic handling of the relatively
expensive ink is oot possible with this method.

SUMMARY CF THE INVENTIOM

An object of the invention is to eliminate the above-
mentioned disadvantages and to reliably ensure the sterility
of a device and the ink for each customer, each tattoo and
each permanent make-up ia a simple manner.

According to the invention, the object is solved by an ink
application device for lattooing or for making permaneat
make-up, comprising a handle, a needle drive, a needle, a
needle nozzle and a protective cap, and at least two modules
teleasably copnected to oge another, wherein one of the
modules is formed as a reusable base module with an
integrated needle drive, 2nd the other module is a sterilized
disposable module in which ali components of the anual
device capable of being infected by bodily fluids of a
customer are integrated.

The ink application device is constructively divided into
two or three separate modules: a basic module, a disposable
or hygienic module and an optional ink module, ¢.g. an ink
cariridge, wherein the basic module corresponds lo the
handle which includes the drive and is designated such that
the hygienic module can be safely attached and connected to
the drive.

When using a disposable module which includes all pans
that can potentially be infected during treatment by the
customer’s bodily fluids, the exchange of single parts of the
manual device, such as the needle or needle nozzles and the
sterilization of the remaining parts that may have contacted
the bodily fiuid, becomes superfluous before the next use of
the manual device on another customer. The disposable
module is removed from the basic module after the treat-
men! and is disposed of in the usual manner. Then, it is
aecessary for the subsequent treatment to plvg a new dis-
posable module onto the basic module to make the device
ready to operate for the next customer. Since the disposable
module is taken from a sterile package directly before use,
its sterility is ensured without the need for special hygienic
measures by the user or hygienic conditions in the treatment
eavironment.

The connection between the basic module and the dis-
posable module can be established and released in a simple
maaner so that the device can also be simply aud safely used
cven by less experienced users.

Since the ink tank is filied before the sterilization process
or after temoval from the sterile packaging by means of a
sterilized ink cartridge with an ink quantity sufficient for one
trealment, the contamination or infection of the ink is
effectively prevented, and the required sterility during teeat-
ment is ensured.

The ink quantity of approximately 0.5 to 2.0 ml provided
according to preferred embodiments is usually sufficieat for
one tatico or PMU. If furttier ink is required for larger tattoo
applicalions, the emply ink cartridge can casily be replaced
by a new, sterile canridge withoul the risk of contamination
or infection.

An ink container can, for instaace, be used as an ink
carlridge as disclosed in the German Utility Model No. 299
16 971, which is incorporated herein by refecence.

A scaling diaphragm provided, according 10 the preferred
embodiments, between the basic and disposable module
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ensures that no ink leaks from the ink tank of the disposable
module and enters the basic module. This ensures that the
reusable basic module is not exposed to bodily fluids and can
be reused without having to be sterilized. ln addition, the
diaphragm also prevents the penetration of impurities, germs
or bacteria which may adbere to the basic module, inlo the
sterile disposable moduie.

The manual device according to the invention achieves
the special hygienic conditions necessary for applying tat-
toos or PMUs with simplc handling procedures to ensure
sterility of the elements contacting the customer’s skin.

BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF THE DRAWINGS

The above and other objects and features of the present X

invention will be clearly understood frem the following
description with respect to the preferred embodiments
thereof when considered in coujunction with the accompa-
nying drawings, in which:

FIG. 1 shows a cross sectional view of a disposable
modulc according to the inveation which is already filled
with ink and which is closed, storable and ready to operatc;

FIG. 2 shows a partial cross sectional view of the dispos-
able modale of FIG. 1;

FIG. 3 shows a partial cross sectional view of an embodi-
ment of an empty disposable module formed according to
the invention with an attached ink cartridge;

FIG. 4 shows a partial cross sectional view of another
embodiment of an empty disposable module formed accord-
ing to the invention;

FIG. 5 shows a partial cross sectional view of yet another
embodiment of an empty disposable module formed accord-
ing to the invention; and

FIG. 6 shows a partial cross sectional view of a further
embodiment of an cmpty disposable module formed accord-
ing 1o the invention.

DETAILED DESCRIPTION OF THE
PREFERRED EMBODIMENTS

FIGS. 1 and 2 show an embodiment of a disposable or
hygicnic module formed according to the invention. A basic
module 20 is formed as a conventional handle. The basic
module 20 comprises a drive 21 for a needle 3, which is
adapted in accordance with the coastauctive design of a
acedle shaft 13.

The disposable module is provided with a bousing com-
prising a rear housing part 1 and a front housing part 2, and
a protective cap 9 which tightly locks the element towards

the front when it is acl in use. The disposable modulc of the

present example is comprised of parts made of a medically
compatible plastic material. In an altcrmative embodiment, it
can also be formed as one piece. The manufacturer places
the module in a sterile package, and it is suitable for
long-term storage.

Athermoplastic injection needle 3 is supported within the
clement by a scaling and bearing clement 4 aad by a bearing
sleeve 7. The bearing dimensions are proportioned so thai
simple and normal operation of the aeedle 3 is ensured, and
the peedle movement through the bearing 4 transports the
ink. Moreover, the sleeve 7 ensures movement with litile
friction.

An ink lank 14 isclosed by a collar 6 agd s filled with ink.
The size of the ick tank 14 preferably comresponds (o0 an ink
quantity of approximately 0.5 to 2.0 ml, since this ink
quantity is usually sufficient for one treatment. Different ink
quantitics are of course also possible.
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The ink is preferably introduced before sterilization and
packaging of the disposable module, and the element is
closed by the coller 6. In this maoner, the sterility of the
element and of the ink is ensurcd. The element is packaged
in a storable manmer. After removal from the sterile
packaging, it is immediately ready to operate, and it only has
10 be connected to the basic module formed as a handle with
lhe needle drive,

The leaking of ink towards the back into the basic module,
which is not shown, is prevented because the bearing 4 is
dimensioned to have in a tight fit, and the needle shaft 13 is
closed by a diaphragm S, that is made of a resilient material.
The diaphragm 5 has a substantially centrally arranged
opening for the needle 3, and the opening is provided with
2 scaling bead or lip 32. The sealing bead or lip 32 is
disposed around the needle shaft. The resilisncy of the
diaphragm 5 enables movement of the needle 3 within a
required strake interval. The stidable scat of the sealing bead
or lip 32 of the diaphragm 5 on the needle shaft 13 allows
relief of the diaphragm in the rest position. The diaphragm
§ is preferably made of a medically compatible, rubber-like
materials, which are generally known in medical technolegy.

A magnet 10 attached at the distal end of the needle shaft
13 secures a non-positive connection of the needle 3 with the
drive (not shown) in the basic module when the disposable
module is connected to the basic module. The drive is
provided at the opposite ¢nd of the needle shaft 13 with 2
corresponding magoetic counter piece 31 to realize the
magnetic coupling. The magetic material may be soft iron
or reinforced or pon-reinforced sinter ceramics.

FIGS. 3 and 4 show further embodiments of the dispos-
able or hygienic module according to the invention. This
embodiment differs from the one shown in FIGS. 1 and 2 in
that the ink filling of the element is performed by plugging
on a sterile ink cartridge 11. As shown in FIG. 4, a specially
formed diaphragm 5 supponts its resilicnt movement with
the needle 3.

lastead of the ink cartridge 11, a micro dosing pump (ot
shown) can also supply the ink from a corresponding ink
container into the ink tank 14. The ink is preferably dis-
charged automatically from the ink module 11 or from the
micro dosing pump into the ink tanlc 14. Preferably 5 to 30
wl per needle stroke are dosed. Manual operation of the ink
module 11 is also possible. The ink is transported by the
movement of the aeedle 3 through a needie nozzle 8 during
operation of the manual device.

In a further embodiment, which is not shown, the needle
shaft 13 can be formed cylindrically at its distal ead so that
it engages a clamping device provided in the basic module,
preferably with a collet chuck 1o establish the drive conaec-
tion for the needle 3.

As an altermative, the diaphragm can also be formed
without an opening for the necdle 3 and fully closs the
disposable module in the direction of the basic module. In
this case, an indirect connection bstweea the elements of the
magnetic coupling with an interposed diaphragm 5 is estab-
lished.

In a further embodiment, the necdle shaft 13 can be
formed as a pressure absorber at its distal end. The ncedle
shaft 13 can be driven forward directly through the opening
of the diaphragm 5 or indirectly through the closed dia-
phragm 5 by a pressure tappet not connected to the ncedle
shafi. It can then be moved back by a return spring 12.

Further examples of embodiments of the element are
shown in FIGS. 5 and 6. In both alierpatives, the needies are
moved by means of a return spring 12 located in a rear
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portion of the device. In FIG. 5, a closed form diaphragm 5
1s shown, with the needle shaft 13 being formed as a pressure
absorber abutting the inner side of the diaphragm that is the
side facing the disposable module. On the opposite side of
the diapbragm 3 (ic. the side facing the basic module), a
tappet, which is pot shown, holds the needle shaft cnd
against the force of the retum spring 12 to drive the needle
3. The rerurn movement of the ncedle 3 is then performed by
the force of the retum spring 12.

In the embodiment of FIG. 3, the disposable module is
sealed in the direction of the basic module by a closed
diaphragm 3. In the embodiment of FIG. 6, the diaphragm
5 is provided with an opening.

It is to be understood that although the present invention
has been described with regard to prefemed embodiments
thereof, various other embodiments and variants may occur
to those skilled in the art, which are within the scope and
spirit of the invention, and such other ¢mbodiments and
variants are intended to be covered by the following claims.

What is claimed is:

1. An ink application device for tattooing or for making
permanent make-up, comprising:

a basic module having a handle and an integrated needle

drive; and

a sterilized disposable module having a housing that

includes a needle disposcd therein, a ncedle nozzie
disposed on one end of the sterilized disposable
module, another end of the sterilized disposable mod-
ule having a portion that is conneciable to the intc-
grated needle drive through a resilient diaphragm, and
a bearing element disposed inside the housing and
supporting the needle in the housing so that the needle
the diaphragm, the bearing element and the bousing
form a unit that is detachable from the basic module,
whereby all components of the device that could be
infected by the bodily fluids of a user are integrated into
the sterilized disposable module.

2. An ink application device for tattooing or for making
permanent make-up as claimed in claim 1, wherein the
sterilized dispusable module includes an ink tank.

3. An ink application device for tattooing or for making
permanent make-up as claimed in claim 2, wherein the ink
tank has a volume sufficient for one application of ink.

4. An ink application device for tattooing or for making
permanent make-up as claimed in claim 2, wherein the
needle is disposed at least partially in said ink tank so that
during opecation of the device, aeedle movement transports
ink through the ink nozzle.

5. An ink application device for tattooing or for making
permanent make-up as claimed in claim 1, further compris-
ing a scparate ink module attachable to an opening io the
disposable module for filling an ink tank, the separate ink
module having a quantity of sterile ink sufficient for one
application.

6. An ink application device for tattooing or for making
permanent make-up as claimed ia claim §, whercin the ink
tank has a volume sufficient to receive approximately 0.5 to
2.0 m! of ink.

7. An ink application device for tattooing or for making

permanent make-up as claimed in claim 5, wherein the s

scparate iok module is an ink cartridge.

8. An ink application device for tattooing or for making
permanent make-up as claimed in claim 5, wherein the
separate ink module includes an outlet for discharging ink
with cach oeedie stroke.

9. An ink application device for tattooing or {or making
pertnanent make-up as claimed in claim 5, wherein the
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separate ink module includes an outlet for discharging ink
into the ink tank.
10. An ink application device for tattooing or for making
permanent make-up comprising:
5 a l:ja.jic module having a handle and an integrated needie
rive;

u sterilized disposable module having a needle disposed
therein, a needle nozzle disposed on one end of the
sterilized disposable module, and another end of the
sterilized disposable module having a portion that is
connectable to the integrated needle drive, whereby all
components of the device that could be infected by the
bodily fluids of a user arc integrated into the sterilized
disposable module; and

2 resilicnt diaphragm disposed between an iok tank and
the basic module so as to prevent ink from passing from
the ink tank to the basic medule.

11. An ink application device for taticoing or for making
permanent make-up as claimed in claim 10, wherein the
diaphragm is made of a medically compalible, elastomeric
material.

12. An ink application device for tattooing or for making
permanent make-up as claimed in claim 10, forther com-
prising a oeedle shaft attached at one end of the ncedle,
wherein the diaphragm bas a sealing lip disposed around the
needle shaft and the sealing lip guides the needle shaft.

13. An ink application device for tattooing or for making
permanent make-up as claimed in claim 10, wherein the
portion that is conuectable to the integrated needlc drive is
the needle shaft.

14. An ink application device for tattooing or for malsing
permancnt make-up as claimed in claim 13, wherein the
needle shaft is cylindrical.

15. An ink application device for tattooing or for making
permanent make-up as claimed in claim 13, wherein the
needle shaft has a maguetic material at one end that is
magnetically connectable with a magaetic counter picce
disposed in the basic module.

16. An ink application device for tattooing or for making
permanent make-up as claimed in claim 15, wherein the
magnetic material includes at least oge of a soft iron, a
teinforced sintered ceramic and a non-reinforced sintered
ceramic.

17. An ink application device for tattooing or for making
permanent make-up as claimed in claim 15, wherein the
diaphragm is disposed between the magnetic material and
the magnetic counter piece so that a magnetic connection is
indirectly made through the diaphragm.

18. An ink application device for taitooing or for making
permancnt make-up as claimed in claim 10, wherein the
diaphragm is devoid of any openings so that it completely
closes off the ink tank from the basic module.

19. An ink application device for tattoving or for making
permanent make-up as claimed in claim 18, wherein the
diaphragm is disposed between a magnetic material and a
magnetic counter piece so that a magnetic connection is
indirectly made through the diaphragm.

20. Az ink applicaion device for tattooing or for making
permanent make-up as claimed in claim 18, wherein the
sterilized disposable module further comprises a return
spring contacting a portion of al least one of the needle and
the needle shaft.

21. An ink application device for tattooing or for making
perinanent make-up as claimed in claim 10, wherein the
sterilized disposable module further comprises a return
spring contacting a portion of at least one of the needle and
the needle shaft.
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22. An ink application device [or tattooing or for making
permanent make-up as claimed in claim 1, wherein said
sterilized disposable module further comprises a needle
shaft that is connectable to the integrated needle drive.

23. An ink application device for tattooing or for making
permanent wake-up as claimed in claim 22, wherein the
needle shaft is cylindrical.

24. An ink applicatioa device for tattooing or for making
permanent make-up as claimed in claim 23, wherein the
needle shaft bas a magoetic material at one end that is
magnetically conncctable with a magnelic counter picce
disposed in the basic module.

25. An ink application device for tattoaing or for making
permanent make-up as claimed in claim 23, wherein the
diaphragm is disposed between 2 maggetic material and a
magsaetic counter piece so that a magnetic connection is
indirectly made through the diaphragm.

26. An ink application device for tattooing or for making
permanent make-up as claimed in claim 1, wherein the
diaphrapm is made of a medically compatible, elastomeric
material.

27. A sterilized disposable module for an ink application
device far tattcoing or for making permanent make-up, the
module having a housing that includes a needle disposed
therein, a needlc nozzle disposed on onc end of the sterilized

8

disposable module, another end of the sterilized disposable
module having a portion that is connectable to an integrated
needle drive through a resilient diaphragm, and a bearing
element disposed inside the bousing and supporting the
needle the diapbragm in the housing so that the needle, the
bearing element and the housing form a unit that is attach-
able to an ink application device.

28. A sterilized disposable module as claimed in claim 27,
further comprising a needle shafl attached at one end of the
acedle.

29. A sterilized disposable module as claimed in claim 28,
wherein the needle shaft has a magretic material at one ead
for magoetically connecting the needle shaft with a magnetic
counter piece disposed in a basic module.

30. A sterilized disposablc module for an ink application
device for tatiooing or for making permanent make-up, the
module having a housing that includes a needle disposed
therein, a needle nozzle disposed an one ead of the sterilized
disposable module, another cad of the sterilized disposable
module having a portion tha! is connectable (o an integraled
needle drive, and a resilient diaphragm disposed between a
front housing part and a rear housing part.

L I I
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) ABSTRACT

An ink application device for tattooing or for making
permanent make-up includes a handle, a needle drive, a
needle, a peedle nozzle and a protective cap. The device
further includes at least two modules releasably connected to
one another. One of the modules is formed as a reusable base
module with an integrated needle drive, and the other
module is a sterilized disposable module in which all
components of the manual device capable of being infected
by bodily fluids of a customer are intcgrated. The device can
be constructively divided into two or three separate mod-
ules: a basic module, a disposable or hygienic module and
an optional ink module. The basic module corresponds to the
tandle that includes the necdle drive and is designed such
that the hygienic module can be safely attached and con-
nected to Lhe integrated needle drive.

20 Claims, 6 Drawing Shects
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INK APPLICATION DEVICE FOR
TATTOOING OR FOR MAKING
PERMANENT MAKE-UP

BACKGROUND OF THE INVENTION

This application is a continuation application of applica-
tion Ser. No. 09/671,650 filed on Sep. 28, 2000, now U.S.
Pat. No. 6,345,553,

FIELD OF THE INVENTION

The preseat invention telates ¢o an ink application device
for tattooing or for making permanrept make-up that can
apply tatloos or other permanent make-up. In particular, this
invention relates 10 a permanent make-up ink application
device for ensuring sterility when lcealing customers,

DISCUSSION OF THE RELATED ART

The sprcading of highly infectious baclerial or viral
infectious diseases such as AIDS and hepatitis, which are
transmitted by bodily fluids, places substantial pressure on
cosmelicians with respect to the hygienic handling of the
tools and ink containers whean applying permanent make-up
(PMU) and tattcos. In everyday practice, these concerns are
not casy to address.

It is particularly problematic in the practice of applying
permanent make-up and tattoos because these measures are
so invasive. In particular, the customer’s skin is pierced by
the method, and blood or blood serum may issue from the
treated portion of the skin. Moreover, the parts of the device
that come into direct contact with the customer, in particular,
the needles and needle nozzles, arc contaminated by the
customer’s bodily fluids. In order to avoid known diseases
traosmitted by bodily fluids, such as AIDS and hepatitis,
these parts of the device must be sterile before treatment and
are 1o be regarded as potentially infectious after treatment.
Therefore, they must be disposed of accordingly.

Thus, it is common practice that certain parts of the PMU
or tattoo device, such as oeedles, are disposable articles.
Other pans can be used several times and thus must be
carefully cleaned and sterilized after use. Before use, these
parts must be taken out of the sterile packaging in which
they are stored and then they are mounted in or at the PMU
or manual tattoo device. This requires a substantial amount
of time and money and [urther requires great care from the
users to sasure that ali parts arc sterile whea the device is
used on customers.

When applyiog taitoos or permanent make-up, ink 10 be
introduced into the skin is typically taken from large ink
reservoir containers, usually lacge iak boltles. Thea the ink
is cither directly applied onto the customer’s skin or it is
injccted by means of syringes, dropper pipettes or similar
tools into a PMU or tatioo pen by means of which the tatico
is applied. The amoum of iok in the ink botiles is signifi-
cantly larger than the quantity required for one customer.
Cne bottle is therefore used for a muliitude of tattoos and
make-up applications or foc muitiple customers.

This practice poses health risks for customers because of
the danger that bodily Ruids, such as blood or serum issuing
(rom the injured skin of a customer when pierciag, “carving-
in” or contacting the skin while applying the ink, contact the
filling aids used for transferring the ink out of the reservoir
ink Hottles. As a result, the bodily Quids may spread into the
reservoir bolile thercby losing the sterility of the botile.
Under these circumslances, several customers can be con-
taminated by infectious diseases if the same inl and the
same filing aid are used.
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The prolonged storage of the ink in the relatively large
reservoir container and the permanent extraction of small
amounts for treating customers can, despite all precaution-
ary measures, cause the contamination of the ink with dust
particles, germs and bacleda and may lead to an infection in
the customer. The sterility of the fok can therefore not
always be reliably ensured despils careful hygieuic mea-
sures. Morcover, aa economic handling of the relatively
expensive ink is oul possible with this method.

SUMMARY OF THE INVENTION

An object of the invention is to eliminate the above-
meationed disadvantages and to reliably ensure the sterility
of a device and the ink for each customer, cach tattoo and
each permancnt make-up in a simple manaer.

According 1o the invention, the object is solved by an ink
applicatior device for tatiooing or for making permancat
make-up, comprising a handle, a ncedle drive, a necdle, a
necdle nozzle and a protective cap, and at least two modules
releasably connected to onme another, wherein one of the
modules is formed as a reusable base module with an
integrated peedle drive, and the other module is a sterilized
disposable module in which all components of the manual
device capable of being infected by bodily fuids of a
customer are integrated.

The ink application device is constructively divided into
two or three separate modules: a basic madule, a disposable
or hygicuic module and an optional ink module, e.g. an ink
cartridge, wherein the basic module corresponds to the
handle which includes the drive and is designated such that
the hygienic module can be safely attached and connected to
the drive.

When using a disposable module which includes all parts
that can potentially be infected during treatment by the
customer’s bodily fluids, the exchange of single parts of the
manual device, such as the needle or necdle nozzles and the
sterilization of the remaining parts that may have contacted
the bodily fluid, becomes superAuaus before the next use of
the manual device on another customer. The disposable
module is cemoved from the basic module after the treal-
ment and is disposed of in the usual manner. Then, it is
necessary for the subsequent treatmeat 1o plug a new dis-
posable module onto the basic module to make the device
ready to operate for the acxt customer. Since the disposable
modulc is taken from a sterile package directly before use,
its sterility is ensured without the nced for special hygienic
measures by the user or hygienic conditions in the treatment
enviropment.

The connection between the basic module and the dis-
posable module can be established and released in a simple
mannc« so that the device can also be simply and safely used
even by less cxpericnced users.

Since the ink tank is filled before the sterilization process
or after removal from the sterile packaging by means of a
sterilized ink cariridge with a0 ink quantity sufficient for one
trcatment, the comlamination or infection of the ink is
effectively prevented, and the required sterility during treat-
ment is ensured.

The ink quantity of approximately 0.5 to 2.0 m} provided
according to preferred embodiments is usually sufficient for
onc lattoo or PMU. IF further ink is required for larger tattoo
applications, the empty ink cartridge can easily be replaced
by a new, sterile cartridge without the risk of contamination
or infection.

An ink container can, for instance, be used as an ink
carlridge as disclosed in the German Utility Mode} Mo, 299
16 971, which is incorporated herein by reference.



US 6,505,530 B2

3

A scaling diaphragm provided, according 1o the preferred
embodiments, between the basic and disposable module
ensures that no ink leaks from the ink tank of the disposable
module and eaters the basic module. This ensures that the
reusable basic module is nol exposed to badily fiuids and can
be reused without having to be sterilized. In addition, the
diapbragm also prevents the penetration of impurities, germs
or bacteria which may adhere to the basic module, into Lke
sterile disposable module.

The maoual device according to the invention achieves
the special hygienic conditions necessary for applying tal-
toos or PMUs with simple handling procedures to ensure
sterility of the clements contacting the customer’s skin.

BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF TIHE DRAWINGS

The above and other objects and Features of the present
invention will be clearly understoed From the following
description wilh respect to the preferred embodiments
thereof when copsidered in conjunction with the accompa-
nying drawings, in which;

FIG. 1 shows a cross sectional view of a disposable
module according to the invention which is already filled
with ink and which is closed, storable and rcady to operate;

FIG. 2 shows a partial cross sectional view of the dispos-
able module of FIG. 1;

FIG. 3 shows a partial cross sectional view of an embodi-
ment of an empty disposable module formed according to
the invention with an attached ink cartridge;

FIG. 4 shows a partial cross sectional view of another -

cmbodiment of an cmpty disposable module formed accord-
ing to the invention;

FIG. 5 shows a partial cross sectional view of yet another
embodiment of an empty disposable module formed accord-
ing to (ke invention; and

FIG. 6 shows a partiai cross sectional view of a furiher
embodiment of an empty disposable module formed accord-
ing to the invention.

DETAILED DESCRIPTION OF THE
PREFERRED EMBODIMENTS

FIGS. 1 aod 2 show an embedimem of a disposable or
bygienic module formed according to the invention. A basic
module 20 is formed as a conventional handle. The basic
module 20 comprises a drive 21 for a needle 3, which is
adapled in accordance with the constructive design of a
acedle shaft 13.

The disposable medule is provided with a bousing com- s

prising a rear housing part 1 and a front housing part 2, and
a prolective cap 9 which tightly locks the element towards
the front when it is not in use. The dispasable module of the
present sxample is comprised of parts made of a medically
compatible plastic material. In an alternative embodiment, it
can also be formed as one picce. The manufacturer places
the module in a stcrile package, and it is suitable for
long-term storage.

A thermoplastic injection needle 3 is supported within the
element by a scaling and bearing clement 4 and by a bearing
sleeve 7. The bearing dimeusions are proportioned so that
simple and normal operation of the needle 3 is ensured, and
the ncedle movemeat through the hearing 4 transports the
ink. Moteaver, the sleeve 7 ensures movement with little
friction.

An ink tank 14 is closed by a collar 6 and is filied with ink.
The size of the ink tank 14 preferably corresponds to an ink
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quantity of approximately 0.5 to 2.0 ml, since this ink
quantity is usually sufficient for one treatment. Different ink
quantitics are of course also possible,

The ink is preferably introduced before sterilization and
packaging of the disposable madule, and the element is
closed by the collar 6. In this manner, the sterility of the
element and of the ink is ensured. The element is packaged
in a storable manner. After removal from the sterile
packaging, it is immediately ready 1o opcrate, and it only has
to be connected 1o the basic module formed as a handle with
the necdle drive.

The leaking of ink towards the back into the basic module,
which is not shown, is prevented because the bearing 4 is
dimensioned to have in a tight fit, and the needle shaft 13 is
closed by a diaphragm 5, that is made of a resilient material.
The diaphragm 5 has a substantially centrally arranged
opening for the needle 3, and the opening is provided with
2 sealing bead or lip 32. The sealing bead or lip 32 is
disposed around the needle shafl. The resiliency of the
diaphragm 5 enables movement of the needle 3 within a
required stroke interval. The slidable seat of the sealing bead
or lip 32 of the diaphragm 5 on the peedle shaft 13 allows
relief of the diapbragm in the rest position. The diapbragm
5 is preferably made of a medically compatible, rubber-like
materials, which are geaerally known in medical technology.

A magnet 10 attached at the distal end of the needle shaft
13 secures a con-positive connection of the needle 3 with the
drive (not shown) in the basic module when the disposable
module is connccted to the basic module. The drive is
provided at the opposite end of the necdle shaft 13 with a
corresponding magnetic counter piece 31 (o realize the
magnetic coupling. The magnetic material may be soft iron
or reinforced or aon-reinforced sinter ceramics.

FIGS. 3 and 4 show further embodiments of the dispos-
able or hygienic module according to the invention. This
embodiment differs from the one shown in FIGS. 1 and 2 in
that the ink filling of the element is performed by plugging
on a sterile ink cartridge 11. As shown in FIG. 4, a specially
formed diaphragm 5 supports its resilient movement with
the needle 3.

Tostead o the ink cartridge 11, a micro dosing pump (oot
shown) can also supply the ink from a corresponding ink
container into the ink tank 14. The ink is preferably dis-
charged automatically from the ink module 11 or from the
micro dosing pump into the ink tank 14. Preferably 5 to 30
ml per needle stroke are dosed. Manual opcration of the ink
module 11 is also possible. The ink is transported by the
moveacat of the needle 3 through a needle gozzle 8 during
operation of the manual device.

In a further embodiment, which is nol showa, the peedle
shaft 13 can be formed cylindrically at its distal end so that
it engages a clamping device provided in the basic module,
preferably with a collet chuck 1o establish the drive congec.
tion for the needle 3.

As an alternative, the diaphragm can also be formed
without an opening for the nesdle 3 and fully close the
disposable module in the direction of the basic module. In
this case, an inditect connection between the elements of the
magnetic coupling with an interposed diaphragm 5 is zstab-
lished.

In a further embodiment, the needle shaft 13 can be
formed as a pressure absocber at its distal ead. The peedle
shaft 13 can be driven forward directly through the opening
of the diaphragm 5 or indirectly through the closed dia-
phragm 5 by a pressure tappet not connected to the needle
shaft. It can then be moved back by a retuen spring 12.
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Further examples of embodiments of the clement are
shown in FIGS. § and 6. In both alternatives, the needles are
moved by means of a return spring 12 located in a rear
portion of the device. In FIG. 5, a closed form diaphragm 5
is shown, with the needle shaft 13 being formed as a pressure
absorber abuiting the inner side of the diaphragm that is the
side facing the disposable module. On the opposite side of
the diaphragm 5 (i.e. the side facing the basic module),
tappet, which is not shown, holds thc needle shaft end
against the force of the return spring 12 to drive the peedle
3. The return movement of the needle 3 is then performed by
the [orce of the return spring 12.

In the embodiment of FIG. 5, the disposable module is
sealed in the direction of the basic module by a closed
diaphragm 5. In the embodiment of FIG. 6, the diaphragm
5 is provided with an opening.

It is to be understood that although the present invention
has been described with regard to preferred cmbodiments
thereof, various other embodiments and varianis may occur
to those skilled in the art, which are within the scope and
spirit of the invention, and such other embodiments and
variants are intended to be covered by the following claims.

What is claimed is:

1. An ink application device for tattooing or for making
permanent make-up, comprising:

a basic module having a handle and an integrated needle

drive; and

a disposable module including an outer housing substan-

tially surrounding a needle which is supported at one
end of the disposable module by a needle nozzle and
which is supported al another end of the disposable
module by a portion that can contact the integrated
needle drive, the oeedle being movable relative to the
outer bousing, and an ink receiving portion dispesed
around the needle, and

means for allowing simultaneous removal of the entire

disposable module from the basic module.

2. Aun ink application device for tattooing or for making
permanent make-up as claimed in claim 1, wherein the ink
receiving portion has a volume sufficient for one application
of ink.

3. An ink application device for tattooing or for making
permanent make-up as claimed in claim 1, wherein the
needle is disposed at lcast partially in said ink receiving
portion so that during operation of the device, ncedle move-
ment transports ink through the aeedle nozzle.

4. An ink application device for tattooing or for making
permaneat make-up as claimed in claim 1, further compris-
ing a scparate ink module attachable to an opening in the
disposable module for filling the ink rcceiving portion, the
separate ink module havipg a quantity of sterile ink sufficicat
for one application.

5. An ink application device [or tattooing or for making
permanent make-up as claimed in claim 4, wherein the
separate ink moduie includes aa outlet for discharging ink
with each needle stroke.

6. An ink application device for tauooing or for making
permanent make-up as claimed in claim 4, wherein the
scparate ink module includes an outlet for discharging ink
into the ink receiving portion.

7. An ink application device for lalteoing or for malking
permanent make-up as claimed in claim 1, wherein the
portion that can contact the inlegrated ncedie drive is the
needle shafl.

8. An ink application device for taltooing or for making
permanent make-up as claimed in claim 7, wherein the
needle shaft is cylindrical.
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9. Au ink applicalion device for tattooing or for making
permanent make-up as claimed in claim 7, further compris-
ing a diaphragm disposed between the ink recciving portion
and the basic module.

10. An ink application device for tattcoing or for makiag
permancnt make-up, comprising:

a basic module having a handle and an integrated needle

drive; and

a disposable module having a housing tha: includes a

needle disposed therein, an ink receiving portion
around the needle disposed inside the housing, 2 needle
nozzle disposed on one end of the disposable madule,
agother ead of the disposable module having a portion
that is connectable to the integrated ncedle drive and a
bearing element disposed inside the housing and sup-
potting the needle in the housing so that the needle, the
ink recciving portion, the bearing element and the
bousing form a unit that is detachable from the basic
module, and sealing means disposed between the ink
receiving portion and the basic module for preventing
liquids from reaching the basic module;

whereby comporerts of the device that could be infected

by the bodily fluids of a user are integrated into the
disposable module.

11. Ag ink application device for tattooing or for making
permanent make-up as claimed in claim 10, wherein the ink
receiving portion has a volume sufficient for one application
of ink.

12. An ink application device for tatiooing or for making
permanent make-up as claimed in claim 10, wherein the
needle is disposed at least partially in said ink Teceiving
partion so that during operation of the device, needle move-
ment transports ink through the needle nozzle.

13. An ink application device for tattooing or for making
permanent make-up as claimed in claim 10, further com-
prising a separate ink module attachable to an opeaing in the
disposzble module for filling the ink receiving portion, the
separate ink module baving a quantity of sterile ink sufficient
for one applicalion.

14. An ink application device for tatiooing or for making
permanent make-up as claimed in claim 13, wherein the
separate ink module includes an outlet for discharging ink
with each needle stroke.

15. An ink application device for tatiooing or for making
permanent make-up as claimed in claim 13, wherein the
separate ink module inclucdes an outlet for dischacging ink
into the igk receiving portion.

16. An ink application device for tattooing or for making
pecmancot make-up as claimed in claim 10, wherein the
portioe thal is connectable o the integrated needle drive is
the needle shafl.

17. An ink application device for tattooiag or for makiog
permancol make-up as claimed ig claim 16, whercin the
needle shaft is cylindrical.

18. An ink application device for tatlooing ar for making
permanent make-up as claimed in claim 16, further com-
prising a diaphragm disposed beiween the ink receiving
potion and the basic module.

19. A mcthod of usiug an ink appiication device for
tattooiag o [or making permancnt make-up, compaising the
steps of:

providing a basic module having a bandle and an inte-

grated necedle drve;

providing a disposable module including an outer housing

substantially surrounding a necdle which is supported
at one end of the disposable module by a needic nozzle
and which is supported at another end of the disposable
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module by a portion thal can contact the integrated 20. The method of using an ink application device for
needle drive, an ink receiving portion disposed around tattooing or for making permancat make-up defined in claim
the needle, 19, further comprising the step of:

applying ink to a surface; and

simultaneously cemoving the emtire disposable module
from the basic module directly following an application
of ink using the iok upplicalion device. ¥ 3 ¥ %

replacing another disposable module on the basic module

s to allow another application of ink.



